

Deliverable 5.2

Strengths and Limitations of the Pilot RCT and future alternatives





The STOP project has received funding from the European Union's Rights, Equality, and Citizenship Programme under Grant Agreement No 881648

Project Acronym	STOP
Contract Number	881648
Dissemination Level	Public
Nature of Document	Report

Title of Document Strengths and Limitations of the

Pilot RCT and future alternatives

Reference Number

Work package contributing to the WP5

document

Version V₁

Expected Delivery Date January 30 2023

Date

Authors (name and organisation) Stella Martin de las Heras, UGR

Jesús López Megías, UGR

Antonella Ludmila Zapata-Calvente,

UGR

D5.2

Khalid Khan, UGR Vibeke Rasch, OUH Ditte Linde, OUH

Karen Andreasen, OUH

Disclaimer The European Union cannot be held

responsible for the content of this

publication

This document contains a description of the Strengths and Limitations of the Pilot RCT and future alternatives

Revision History

Revision Date Comments Author (name and organisation)

File name: STOP D_{5.2} Strengths and Limitations of the Pilot RCT and future alternatives.

Statement of originality: This deliverable contains original unpublished work except where clearly indicated otherwise. Acknowledgement of previously published material and of the work of others has been made through appropriate citation, quotation, or both.

Public 2 V1 - 13.02.2023



Executive Summary

This document describes a summary of the results of a pilot randomised controlled trial (RCT) conducted in Denmark and Spain and its strengths and limitations (deliverable D5.3. describes in more detail the results of the pilot RCT). It also contains propositions for future study designs based on a review of the relevant literature as the pilot RCT demonstrated that a future full-scale randomised study was unfeasible. In our pilot study, a subset of women from the STOP cohort study who screened positive for IPV during their first antenatal visit were invited to participate in pilot randomised controlled trial of psychological counselling by video conference. The objective was to randomise a total number of 20 participants to either the intervention or the control group. The intervention group received the e-health package (six video counselling sessions combined with the use of a safety planning app), while the control group would receive the same intervention yet with a delay of 8 weeks permitting collection of control outcome data. This document will interpret the pilot findings and the existing literature to come up with possible solutions to address the difficulties in the feasibility of a future full-scale randomised study observed in the pilot study.

Public 3 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



Table of Contents

	ntents ecutive Summary3
	ole of Contents4
1.	INTRODUCTION5
1.1	Purpose of the document5
1.2	Structure of the document5
1.3	Glossary5
2.	A SUMMARY OF THE PROTOCOL FOR PILOT RCT6
	2.1. Study setting6
	2.2. Eligibility criteria6
	2.3. Intervention and control groups
	2.4. Assessments and data collection
3.	SUMMARY OF MAIN PILOT RESULTS, STRENGHS AND LIMITATIONS
	3.1. Summary of main results of the pilot RCT in Denmark and Spain
	3.2. Strenghts of the pilot RCT9
	3.2.1 Research projects focused on the opinions of participants in the control conditions: they are unsatisfied with no receiving interventions.
	3.2.2 Support from the Patient and Public Involvement perspective in health and social care research
	3.3. Main Limitations of the pilot RCT found during implementation 10
4.	LITERATURE REVIEW12
5.	OTHERS STUDY DESIGN OPTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH13
6.	CONCLUSION13
7.	REFERENCES



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose of the document

This document contains the strengths and limitations of the findings of the pilot RCT study and propose options for future study designs considering other published studies in this field.

1.2 Structure of the document

Firstly, the document provides a summary of the of IPV in pregnancy and its consequences, ehealth interventions and the rationale of the pilot RCT as well as its methodology. Secondly, we briefly explain the main results of the trial and analyse the strengths and limitations found during the implementation and development of the pilot trial in both countries. Lastly, other study design options for future studies that aim to address IPV among pregnant women are discussed according to the existing evidence about IPV and e-health interventions.

1.3 Glossary

APP Application
D Deliverable

IPV Intimate Partner Violence

EU European Union

eIPV E-health psychological intervention in pregnant women exposed to intimate

partner violence

EPV-R Severe Intimate Partner Violence Risk Prediction Scale-Revised

MOVERS Measure of Victim Empowerment Related to Safety

RCT Randomised Control Trial UGR University of Granada

WP Work Package

Public 5 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



2. A SUMMARY OF THE PROTOCOL FOR PILOT RCT

Intimate partner violence (IPV) during pregnancy is a condition that is as common as obstetrics conditions such as gestational diabetes, and it is associated with maternal and neonatal complications. Yet systematic detection of IPV is not well-established in antenatal screening, which could be due to the effectiveness of protective interventions not having been evaluated so far. E-health interventions may be beneficial among mothers exposed to IPV. Prior to performing a full-scale effectiveness trial for such an intervention, a pilot study is required to assess the feasibility of randomising a sufficiently large number of women exposed to IPV during pregnancy.

We conducted a pilot randomised controlled trial (RCT), co-designed by participants using Zelen's design with additional qualitative evaluation and nested within a cohort study. We have used a modified Zelen's design with a double consent process^{1–3} and a delayed intervention for the control group. In the first stage, informed consent was sought from all pregnant women to enter a cohort study. A predetermined small number of the cohort were then randomised, without their knowledge, to intervention or control. The intervention group received the e-health package as part of the cohort.

In the second stage, participants who have been assigned to the control, were re-approached, and given information about their participation in the control group. At this stage, they were invited to accept a delay in the intervention (e-health package eight weeks later) and were asked to give the second informed consent for a delayed intervention. Those who declined remained in the cohort study. Those in the cohort only group were not informed about the randomisation, as their subsequent follow up in the study remained part of the cohort study to which they would already have consented in the first stage. We have substituted the women who did not consent to being part of the control until we reached the sample required (5 women in each country).

2.1. Study setting

Participants were recruited at twenty-nine urban public primary health antenatal care centres within Andalusia (Spain) and at five regional hospitals in the Region of Southern Denmark.

2.2. Eligibility criteria

All women who fulfil the inclusion criteria were screened and invited to receive an e-health package. Of those who accepted the e-health intervention, 20 women would be randomised – 10 women in each country – and 5 women would be allocated to the intervention group and 5 would be asked to consent to be in the control group, in each country. However, we ended up randomising more women because of women rejected to be part of the trial, as we explain in section 3.

Inclusion criteria: pregnant women at <12 weeks gestation, who screen positive in IPV at the first antenatal visit and accept the e-health package. However, in Denmark the screening was performed in week 8-12 and the women were invited to participate in the pilot RCT at first midwifery consultation in week 14-16.

Public 6 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



Exclusion criteria: (1) women who cannot be informed about the study without their partners or other family members knowing; (2) mentally or physically incapacity to participate in the study; (3) women below 16 years in Spain or below 18 years in Denmark; (4) inability to understand Danish/Spanish, (5) lack of internet and electronic device and (6) women with extreme severity of IPV. Women selected to participate in the trial in this situation have received an evaluation of danger before randomisation. If the severity of IPV was confirmed to be at high level of danger, they were routinely treated and supported according to the standard protocol in each country.

2.3. Intervention and control groups

In the intervention group, women who screened positive for IPV who accepted the e-Health intervention and who have been randomly allocated in the intervention group have received the e-health package as the rest of the cohort, as well as the baseline and outcome measurements. The e-health package included six video counselling sessions by trained providers - a psychologist in Spain and trained midwives in Denmark - and access to a mobile application for designing security plans, which was an adapted version of the mobile application "My Plan". The content of the six individually tailored sessions were based on the Dutton's Empowerment Model⁴ and the Psychosocial Readiness Model⁵. Specifically, the contents included the evaluation of abusive behaviour; safety planning, network and resources; psychoeducation (healthy relationships, cycle of violence, etc.); self-esteem and empowerment; fears; choice making and problem solving. In the control group, IPV positive women who accepted the e-Health intervention package were asked for a second consent to receive a delayed intervention (8 weeks later) and to complete the baseline and outcome measurements. Women could request to leave the control group at any time and receive the intervention immediately (in which case the data were part of the cohort study).

2.4. Assessments and data collection

Data on socio-demographic characteristics and partner violence were collected during the screening process. The validated screening questionnaires to detect IPV were the short form of the Women Abuse Screening tool (WAST-Short)⁶ and the Abuse Assessment Screen (AAS)⁷. Data from previous studies support the reliability and validity of the WAST⁸ and the AAS⁷. If the women initially were screened positive, the screening questionnaires were followed by the Index of Spouse Abuse (ISA) questionnaire⁹. The ISA questionnaire is a detailed 30-item questionnaire about IPV (emotional, physical and sexual) in order to confirm the IPV and evaluate the severity of the violence. In the assessment IPV exposure, two different scores are computed: ISA-P (physical abuse) and ISA-NP (non-physical abuse).

The following quantitative questionnaire data were collected before and after the e-health intervention: exposure to IPV (assessed by use of the ISA tool), post-natal depression (assessed by The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale¹⁰), their ability to carry out safety behaviour actions (measured by the safety action checklist²⁹) and their empowerment (evaluated through Measure of Victim Empowerment Related to Safety, MOVERS¹¹).

Qualitative data were collected through individual in-depth interviews with a sub-group of women at any point of the cohort and pilot study to explore their opinion and experiences of the study procedures and intervention. Additionally, we conducted interviews with the IPV

Public 7 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



counsellors to explore their experiences with the delivery of the intervention and their opinion about a future full-randomised controlled trial.

The Deliverable 5.1. contains a more detailed description of the protocol of the pilot RCT, including the screening procedure, randomisation process, intervention, main objectives, data analysis.

3. SUMMARY OF MAIN PILOT RESULTS, STRENGHS AND LIMITATIONS

3.1. Summary of main results of the pilot RCT in Denmark and Spain

Table 1 outlines the main criteria that were considered to assess the feasibility of a full-scale RCT. In addition, we also include qualitative findings that support the decision-making around the feasibility of progressing to a full-scale trial.

Table 1. Suggested progression criteria in eIPV trial and main results

Feasibility objectives and related data to be collected	Go criteria to proceed to full trial	Criteria to reassess and adjust full trial protocol	Stop criteria	Data from our pilot RCT
Study population 1. Consent rate of eligible women	Rate >25% of eligible women agreeing to participate.	Rate between 11% and 24% women agreeing to participate	Rate <10% of eligible women agreeing to participate	Rate of 13%: Reassess and adjust full trial study protocol
2. Proportion of women in either intervention or control group for whom the allocated treatment is adhered to.	Adherence to allocated treatment in >80% of study sample.	Adherence to allocated treatment in between 51% and 79% of study sample.	Adherence to allocated treatment in <50% of study sample.	Overall Rate of 31% Rate of 41% for the intervention group and rate of 16% for the control group Stop criteria
RCT process 3. Collection of data on clinical outcomes	Complete data available of >80% of study sample.	Missing data between 21% and 49% of study sample.	Data missing of >50% of study sample.	Rate of 41% for the intervention group and rate of 16% for the control group: Stop criteria

The results showed that none of the progression criteria to assess the feasibility of conducting a full-scale RCT multi-centre were met. In other words, a future full-scale trial was not demonstrated to be feasible.

Specifically, the consent rate of eligible women was around 13%, which suggested that we should reassess and adjust the full trial protocol. In addition, the proportion of women in either intervention or control group for whom the allocated treatment is adhered to was only of 31%; if this rate was below 50%, the stop criteria was met. Finally, the analysis of the rate of the collection of data on clinical outcomes showed that we obtained a rate of 41% for the intervention group and rate of 16% for the control group. If this rate was below 50%, it also indicated that the full trial is not feasible.

Public 8 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



These rates were based on the following information. We spend 267 days (more than eight months) to obtain full data of just 7 women in the intervention group (3 from Spain and 4 from Denmark) of the 10 women that we targeted. To get that, we randomised 17 women to that group, and more than the half (10 women) dropped out.

The case of the control is even worse in terms of numbers. Following the input from focus-group discussions with IPV survivors and ethical considerations, we did not choose to have a control group who did not receive the intervention. Instead, we offered a delayed intervention (eight weeks later), following the Zelen's design explained above. This may be the reason why all women randomised to the control group in Denmark rejected to be part of the group, because they did not want to delay the intervention. In Spain, of the women randomised to the control group (n=10), three were excluded for showing a potentially high severity of violence (exclusion criteria to be part of this group because of the possible danger of the delay). Among the remaining seven women, four dropped out at the time video counselling was supposed to start and thus did not answer the baseline questionnaires. Finally, three women started the intervention in the control group, but only two women provided complete outcome measures one-month postintervention. In the following section we analyse the strengths and limitations of the design and the input from the women, the midwives and the psychologist who conducted the video-counselling.

3.2. Strenghts of the pilot RCT

We undertook a pilot RCT, co-designed by participants and with independent input from advisory and ethics committee using Zelen's design with an additional qualitative evaluation. We considered that this pilot RCT has three main strengths: (1) It had tried to improve the satisfaction of the participants who are assigned to the control group conditions through different studies; (2) It had the support from the Patient and Public Involvement perspective in health and social care research, and (3) It has responded to the ethical requirements of institutions and the own research team involved in the project.

3.2.1 Research projects focused on the opinions of participants in the control conditions: they are unsatisfied with no receiving interventions.

Prior to performing a large interventional trial, a pilot study is needed to identify barriers to recruitment, assess feasibility and acceptability of the treatment, and fine-tune study procedures. No RCT has previously assessed an e-health intervention in IPV among pregnant women in comparison with a control group with a delay intervention. In this pilot trial, we chose to perform a pilot RCT with a modified Zelen's design rather than a pilot RCT for several reasons. Participants who take part in standard RCTs will make a judgment of their preferred treatment and often expect to be allocated to the treatment group¹². If this does not occur, it can be followed by dissatisfaction and distrust in those who approached them to take part¹³. Consequently, randomisation to a control group may lead to dropout after allocation. The original Zelen design involved randomisation before consent, with consent only required from those allocated to the intervention, whereas the control group receive their usual care³. Baseline outcomes are collected from medical records (with ethical approval). However, it is not possible to interact with the control group during follow-up, as they are not informed of their presence in a study. Taking all of this into consideration, we have hypothesised that women would accept the intervention when they perceived it as a need for support, but it was also expected that if they perceive it like



this, they may not want to be randomised into control group. To overcome this expected dropout in the control group, we followed the input of IPV survivors in a focus group, the opinion of the participant representative and a systematic review that concluded that a delay intervention could be an effective way of minimising dropout¹⁴.

3.2.2 Support from the Patient and Public Involvement perspective in health and social care research

Following the Patient and Public Involvement perspective in health and social care research, we consulted IPV survivors and professionals working with IPV victims about the possibility of having a control/standard care group. We also consulted this with pregnant women exposed to IPV participating in the STOP cohort study. These agents support the need to provide an intervention to IPV positive women assigned to the control group – at least a delayed intervention. All assured that they would prefer to be offered a delayed intervention than standard care or any other control intervention (such as a referral card with resources, website with IPV information, etc.). In the following lines we have included some of the thoughts of the IPV survivors from the focus group discussion where their notions related to having a control group without intervention or just standard care were recorded:

Woman 3:

[...] If you have to admit that you are in that situation [ed. of IPV], and you take the risk of participating in the study that could be dangerous for you, and then you are allocated in a control group and they tell you: "Now you are not going to receive the treatment" and you say: "Why am I going to get into this?"

In addition, two women previously exposed to IPV (one Spanish and one Danish) helped us to develop a more pregnant women-centred information sheet in line with the well-known need to involve citizens in science¹⁵. They were concerned about the possibility of putting a woman in risk of danger by assigning her to the control group. To eliminate any potential danger to the women, the health providers checked the items of the ISA related to physical IPV and the psychological IPV items measuring fear of the partner to determine if the women invited to the pilot are at extreme level of IPV risk. Among those women who responded positive to the above items, the providers have evaluated the level of danger with the Severe Intimate Partner Violence Risk Prediction Scale-Revised (EPV-R, $\alpha = .72$)³⁵ before randomisation. If the level of danger was confirmed to be high, women were not included in the control group, and they were routinely treated and supported according to the standard protocol in each country.

3.3. Main Limitations of the pilot RCT found during implementation.

The analyses of the pilot showed that we have at least two main obstacles to get the pilot sample for each group and to implement the eHealth intervention. The first general obstacle has been the high drop out. Reviewing the flowchart (Annex Figure 1) complete information was only obtained in seven out of 17 included women revealing a drop-out percentage above 50%. The situation is even worse in the control group where only two out of seven women who accepted the allocation, completed the post-intervention measures.

Public 10 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



The second major obstacle was the control group itself. Although offering a delayed intervention seemed to be the optimal solution for not leaving positive IPV pregnant women without an intervention, we observed that this was not always the case. Some women interviewed in the cohort in Spain answered that they would reject to be part of the control group because of the delay:

Woman 6:

I think I would reject to participate. I wouldn't participate. Well... If you offer me this help and I need it in that moment and I feel very very bad... If you say the word "delay", it's not a good approach.

Woman 3:

If it's not immediate, I don't know what I would have said. I don't know... Well, I think I would have accepted because I really needed to talk with someone... I think I would accept, but other people, I don't know... [...] I wouldn't make them (women) wait.

However, all the women who accepted to be part of the control group were Spanish. The fact of those Spanish women who accepted to be part of the control group did not complete the baseline measurement (n=4) or dropped out when the time of video counselling was planned to start, may be related with the time of pregnancy itself. In other words, it is possible that these women wanted to participate when they were invited, but after the delay being almost more than five months pregnant or even closer to the delivery could make them think that it was not a good time for starting an intervention.

In the Danish context, all the women offered to be part of the control group rejected due to the delay. Hence, the Danish women were ready and motivated to start the counselling sessions after disclosing their IPV exposure and found the sooner they could initiate the counselling the better. Below a few quotations illustrating the women's notions:

Woman 1:

It makes no sense to wait

Woman 2:

I think the sooner you start, the sooner the women can be helped. If you wait 8 weeks, then we are almost at the end of the pregnancy. And I think that would be a shame.

Woman 3:

In reality, all that needs to be done is to prevent any form of violence against women. And that is not possible. But the sooner you start the better.

Woman 4:

In my eyes, I just think that you get too little out of the offer. In reality, something like this should start already after the first doctor's visit, I think (ed. in gestational week 6-8)

It is relevant to have in mind is that, although both countries had the intention to start the screening no later than gestational week 12, the administrative workflow of the questionnaire in Denmark did not allow this. Hence, the Danish women started the intervention around week 20 of pregnancy and therefore had more difficulties in coping with the delay of the intervention in comparison with the Spanish women who started earlier.

Public 11 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



4. LITERATURE REVIEW

A systematic literature review and meta-analysis published in 2020 by members of the STOP project group examined the evidence of the effect of digital health interventions targeted women exposed to IPV on reduction of IPV, PTSD and depression. Randomised controlled trials were included in the review, and a systematic search was conducted on five scientific databases (Embase, Medline, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, PsycInfo, Scopus, Global Health Library) and two trial registries (ClinicalTrials.gov and International Clinical Trials Registry Platform)¹⁶.

A total of 14 trials were included in the review (8 published, 3 unpublished and 3 ongoing trials). Overall, the content of the digital interventions, recruitment strategies and primary outcome measures varied (table 2). Only two trials involved pregnant women exposed to IPV (one finished published trial and one ongoing trial). The finished trial targeted American pregnant women who were seeking mental health care (Zlotnick et al, 2019) whilst the ongoing trial concerned culturally diverse Norwegian women attending antenatal clinics who screened positive for IPV.

Table 2. Overview of finished, published trials with digital interventions

Author, year	Country	Trial size	Recruitment	Intervention	Comparator
Hegarty et al, 2019	Australia	422	Online advertisement; compensation for time up to Aus \$150 (US \$110)	Online safety decision aid	Control website
Koziol- McLain et al, 2018	New Zealand	412	TV advertisements and flyers at health clinics	Online safety decision aid	Control website
Zlotnick et al, 2019	United States	53	Pregnant women seeking mental health care who screened positive for IPV	Online education on IPV	Online popular TV shows
Glass et al, 2017	United States	721	Online advertisement, flyers at health clinics and public toilets	Online safety decision aid	Control website
Constantino et al, 2015	United States	32	Family court waiting areas, legal services, women's shelters	Email modules with IPV support (arm 1)/face-to-face modules with IPV support (arm 2)	Standard care
Stevens et al, 2015	United States	253	Women at paediatric emergency departments who screened positive for IPV	Telephone support	Standard care
Braithwaite et al, 2014	United States	104	Online, posters, and newspaper advertisements	Emails, modules with relationship communication skills, and problem- solving training	Placebo emails; modules with information about depression, anxiety, and healthy relationships
McFarlane et al, 2002	United States	150	Family violence unit	Telephone support	Standard care

Public 12 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



Seven out of eight published trials were included in the meta-analysis, which showed that there was no evidence for a beneficial effect of digital interventions on (1) overall IPV [SMD -0.01; 95% CI -0.11 to 0.08; I²=0%; 5 trials, 1668 women]; (2) physical IPV [SMD 0.01; 95% CI -0.22 to 0.24; I²=58%; 4 trials, 1128 women], (3) sexual IPV [SMD 0.07; 95% CI -0.12 to 0.25; I²=40%; 4 trials, 1129 women], or (4) psychological violence [SMD 0.36; 95% CI -0.18 to 0.91; I²=0%; 2 trials, 1029 women]; or (5) depression [SMD -0.13; 95% CI -0.37 to 0.11; I²=78%; 5 trials, 1600 women] and (6) PTSD [MD -0.11; 95% CI -1.04 to 0.82; I²=0%; 5 trials, 1267 women]. However, the types of outcomes and how they were measured were very heterogenous across trials, which limited the possibility of pooling results and identifying patterns across studies. It was recommended that core outcome sets were established to harmonise outcome reporting with the field of IPV¹⁶.

5. OTHERS STUDY DESIGN OPTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The revision of the literature could help us to highlight how other research groups are approaching the difficulties of conducting a RCT with pregnant women exposed to IPV. The above literature review highlighted that there are actually not many trials that include pregnant women who participate in standard screening as part of antenatal care, hence, they may not have faced the same difficulties as we did. In addition, it is important to underline that of those studies included in the review¹⁶, only two of them were developed in the European Union. In this sense, the generalisability to the European context is uncertain^{17–23}.

In another recent RCT²⁴ conducted with pregnant women and mothers of children under 5 exposed to IPV, the control group almost received the same program as the intervention group without an added interpersonal psychotherapy component. This may have increased the willingness to accept and participate for those assigned to the control group. A fullscale RCT was conducted in Norway²⁵ to promote a safe pregnancy intervention for IPV among culturally diverse pregnant women. While the intervention group watched a video that presented information about IPV and safety behaviours, the controls watched a video promoting healthy pregnancy in general. Further, in a RCT conducted in Iran²⁶, which focused on the level of self-esteem and IPV against pregnant women, they offered a counselling of 2-45 minutes gestalt-based sessions while the control group only attended prenatal care visits and after the post-test evaluation and received an educational pamphlet. Another RCT also developed in Iran in 2021 with the aim to improve the violence rate and quality of life of pregnant women at risk of domestic violence provided no intervention to the control group while the intervention group received a counselling based on the solution focused approach²⁷. Finally, Rastegar et al.²⁸ aimed to investigate the impact of preventive interventions on IPV among pregnant women through a RCT study in Iran. The intervention group received a group-counselling (based on the PEN-3 model) while the control group only received standard care.

However, from an ethical point of view, we deem it difficult to use these types of control groups in a Danish and Spanish context. If pregnant women screened positive in IPV, we would find it unethical to just provide them the standard care or an unrelated control comparator, which was also the opinion of our patient representative, professionals and even other IPV survivors which stressed that we had to offer the intervention to the women in the control group, at least a delayed intervention. Perhaps the control group could comprise of women who receive face to face counselling or a group who receive a series of videos which inform the women about IPV and possible preventive actions.

6. CONCLUSION

We conclude that any future large scale randomised trial with the design that we used is at high risk of failure. This is because of the difficulties observed in convincing ethics committees to approve

Public 13 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



randomisation, encouraging people to consent to receive control, persuading participants to comply, and failing to complete follow up for outcome data. Whether such risks are worthwhile in awarding a future research grant is a matter for funders who would have to balance the importance of the topic versus the high probability of failure inherent in the research to be undertaken. The STOP pilot study confirms that without an extremely large investment of effort, recruitment, retention, and completion of follow up is unlikely. For any prudent funder and researcher, there will be the need to build in a strong mitigation plan in the research proposed from the outset including an internal pilot phase with clear stop–go rules set a priori for oversight by an independent data monitoring committee who should advise the independent steering committee. Alternate approaches to randomisation are strongly advised. These include observational comparisons, that typically suffer selection bias. Such studies would have to be planned with close attention to confounder data collection and analysis to generate valid findings.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Land J, McCourt O, Heinrich M, Beeken RJ, Koutoukidis DA, Paton B, et al. The adapted Zelen was a feasible design to trial exercise in myeloma survivors. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2020 Sep 1;125:76–83.
- 2. Schellings R, Kessels AG, ter Riet G, Knottnerus JA, Sturmans F. Randomized consent designs in randomized controlled trials: Systematic literature search. Contemporary Clinical Trials. 2006 Aug 1;27(4):320–32.
- 3. Zelen M. A New Design for Randomized Clinical Trials. New England Journal of Medicine. 1979 May 31;300(22):1242–5.
- 4. Dutton MA. Empowering and healing the battered woman: A model for assessment and intervention. New York, NY, US: Springer Publishing Co; 1992. xx, 202 p. (Empowering and healing the battered woman: A model for assessment and intervention).
- 5. Cluss PA, Chang JC, Hawker L, Scholle SH, Dado D, Buranosky R, et al. The process of change for victims of intimate partner violence: support for a psychosocial readiness model. Womens Health Issues. 2006 Oct;16(5):262–74.
- 6. Brown JB, Lent B, Schmidt G, Sas G. Application of the Woman Abuse Screening Tool (WAST) and WAST-short in the family practice setting. J Fam Pract. 2000 Oct;49(10):896–903.
- 7. Soeken KL, McFarlane J, Parker B, Lominack MC. The Abuse Assessment Screen: A clinical instrument to measure frequency, severity, and perpetrator of abuse against women. In: Empowering survivors of abuse: Health care for battered women and their children. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc; 1998. p. 195–203. (Sage series on violence against women).
- 8. Rabin RF, Jennings JM, Campbell JC, Bair-Merritt MH. Intimate Partner Violence Screening Tools. Am J Prev Med. 2009 May;36(5):439-445.e4.
- 9. Hudson WW, McIntosh SR. The Assessment of Spouse Abuse: Two Quantifiable Dimensions. Journal of Marriage and the Family. 1981 Nov;43(4):873.

Public 14 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023



- 10. Malin Eberhard-Gran SO Anne Eskild, Kristian Tambs, Berit Schei. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale: Validation in a Norwegian community sample. Nordic Journal of Psychiatry. 2001 Jan 1;55(2):113–7.
- 11. Goodman LA, Cattaneo LB, Thomas K, Woulfe J, Chong SK, Smyth KF. Advancing domestic violence program evaluation: Development and validation of the Measure of Victim Empowerment Related to Safety (MOVERS). Psychology of Violence. 2015;5(4):355–66.
- 12. King M, Nazareth I, Lampe F, Bower P, Chandler M, Morou M, et al. Impact of Participant and Physician Intervention Preferences on Randomized Trials: A Systematic Review. JAMA. 2005 Mar 2;293(9):1089.
- 13. Featherstone K, Donovan JL. "Why don't they just tell me straight, why allocate it?" The struggle to make sense of participating in a randomised controlled trial. Social Science & Medicine. 2002 Sep 1;55(5):709–19.
- 14. Bisschop CNS, Courneya KS, Velthuis MJ, Monninkhof EM, Jones LW, Friedenreich C, et al. Control Group Design, Contamination and Drop-Out in Exercise Oncology Trials: A Systematic Review. PLOS ONE. 2015 Mar 27;10(3):e0120996.
- 15. Moss N, Daru J, Lanz D, Thangaratinam S, Khan K. Involving pregnant women, mothers and members of the public to improve the quality of women's health research. BJOG: Int J Obstet Gy. 2017 Feb;124(3):362–5.
- 16. Linde DS, Bakiewicz A, Normann AK, Hansen NB, Lundh A, Rasch V. Intimate Partner Violence and Electronic Health Interventions: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. J Med Internet Res. 2020 Dec 11;22(12):e22361.
- 17. Ahmad F, Hogg-Johnson S, Stewart DE, Skinner HA, Glazier RH, Levinson W. Computer-Assisted Screening for Intimate Partner Violence and Control. Ann Intern Med. 2009 Jul 21;151(2):93–102.
- 18. Klevens J, Sadowski L, Kee R, Trick W, Garcia D. Comparison of Screening and Referral Strategies for Exposure to Partner Violence. Women's Health Issues. 2012 Jan 1;22(1):e45–52.
- 19. Rhodes KV, Drum M, Anliker E, Frankel RM, Howes DS, Levinson W. Lowering the threshold for discussions of domestic violence: a randomized controlled trial of computer screening. Arch Intern Med. 2006 May 22;166(10):1107–14.
- 20. McFarlane J, Malecha A, Gist J, Watson K, Batten E, Hall I, et al. An intervention to increase safety behaviors of abused women: results of a randomized clinical trial. Nurs Res. 2002 Dec;51(6):347–54.
- 21. Gillum TL, Sun CJ, Woods AB. Can a Health Clinic-Based Intervention Increase Safety in Abused Women? Results from a Pilot Study. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2009 Aug;18(8):1259–64.

Public 15 - 16 V1 – 13.02.2023



- 22. Koziol-McLain J, Vandal AC, Wilson D, Nada-Raja S, Dobbs T, McLean C, et al. Efficacy of a Web-Based Safety Decision Aid for Women Experiencing Intimate Partner Violence: Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Jan 10;19(12):e426.
- 23. Tiwari A, Yuk H, Pang P, Fong DYT, Yuen F, Humphreys J, et al. Telephone intervention to improve the mental health of community-dwelling women abused by their intimate partners: a randomised controlled trial. Hong Kong Med J. 2012 Dec;18 Suppl 6:14–7.
- 24. Hailemariam M, Zlotnick C, Taft A, Johnson JE. MOSAIC (MOthers' AdvocateS In the Community) for pregnant women and mothers of children under 5 with experience of intimate partner violence: A pilot randomized trial study protocol. PLoS One. 2022;17(5):e0267679.
- 25. Flaathen EME, Henriksen L, Småstuen MC, Schei B, Taft A, Noll J, et al. Safe Pregnancy intervention for intimate partner violence: a randomised controlled trial in Norway among culturally diverse pregnant women. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2022 Feb 21;22(1):144.
- 26. Noormohamadi P, Ahmadi A, Jahani Y, Alidousti K. The Effect of Gestalt-Based Counseling on the Level of Self-Esteem and Intimate Partner Violence against Pregnant Women: A Randomized Control Trial. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2021;26(5):437-42.
- 27. Dinmohammadi S, Dadashi M, Ahmadnia E, Janani L, Kharaghani R. The effect of solution-focused counseling on violence rate and quality of life of pregnant women at risk of domestic violence: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2021;21(1):221.
- 28. Rastegar KE, Moeini B, Rezapur-Shahkolai F, Naghdi A, Karami M, Jahanfar S. The Impact of Preventive Interventions on Intimate Partner Violence among Pregnant Women Resident in Hamadan City Slum Areas Using the PEN-3 Model: Control Randomized Trial Study. Korean J Fam Med. noviembre de 2021;42(6):438-44.

Public 16 - 16 V1 - 13.02.2023

Excluded (n= 590) Approached women (n= 5557) Decline to participate (n= 46) Pilot RCT. OCT 2021 to JULY 2022 Incomplete (n=6) Underage (n= 6) Excluded for not having partner (n= 5) Other reasons (n = 527) DK Completed screening (n= 4967) Excluded (n= 4656) **Screening and Enrollment** Screen negative (n= 4656) Women screen positive (n= 311) Excluded (n= 169) Decline to continue participation (to receive VC) (n= 169) Other reasons (n = 0)Women contacted by the counsellor (n= 220) Excluded (n=19) Declined to take part in the randomisation of the trial (n = Women consent to take part in 19) (DK) Video Counselling (VC) (n=51) **COHORT STUDY** Post-randomisation exclusion (n=3) Randomization (n=32) Exclusion criteria: Pregnant women with suspicious of extreme severity of IPV (n=3) Excluded (n = 9)Excluded (n = 3)Woman allocated in Intervention Group (n=17) Women invited to take part in pilot control - Drop out. Do not - Declined to take part in **Allocation** group (n=12) complete the baseline control group (n = 5)- Drop out (n = 4)questionnaires Do not complete the Control group (n=3) baseline questionnaires Intervention Group (n=14) Delayed intervention (e-health package 8 (e-health package after screening, as cohort) weeks later) **Assessment** Baseline questionnaires (n= 3) Baseline measurement (n=14) Allocated to control (n=3) Intervention Baseline measurement right before Allocated to intervention (n= 14) intervention (n = 2)Received allocated intervention eight Received allocated intervention (n= 7) weeks later (n= 2) Did not receive allocated intervention Did not receive allocated intervention (because they did not attend first session) (because she did not attend first session Follow-up and (n=7)when the intervention started) (n= 1) Other reasons (n = 0)**Assessments** Post-intervention measurement (n= 2) Post-intervention measurement (n= 7) Lost to follow-up (give reasons) (n= 0) Lost to follow-up (give reasons) (n=) Discontinued intervention (give reasons) (n= 0) Discontinued control (give reasons) (n=)